






20. Mr. Gaines was charged with Criminal Possession Of Stolen
Property, a misdemeanor, and with Disorderly Conduct and Harass­
ment, both violations.

21. Respondent's husband prepared the body of the release order
for her signature. Mr. Sims testified that he could not remember
whether the body of the release order was completed before or after
respondent signed it.

22. On May 13, 1978, Mr. Sims appeared before another judge in
the Buffalo City Court with Mr. Gaines.

23. Respondent knew or should have known that signing the release
order outside of court when she was not obligated to do so would lead
the defendant to seek Mr. Sims' representation in court the following
day.

As to Charge V of the Formal Written Complaint:

24. On the evening of November 29, 1978, respondent's husband
received a telephone call from the sister of Lawrence Grant, re­
questing Mr. Grant's release from jail.

25. Mr. Grant was charged with Assault, First Degree, a felony.

26. Mr. Sims had previously represented Mr. Grant and members
of his family.

27. Mr. Sims called respondent after receiving the call from Mr.
Grant's sister. Mr. Sims or Ms. Grant conveyed to respondent the re­
quest to release Mr. Grant.

28. Respondent called the Buffalo City Police central booking with
respect to the Grant case and then signed an order releasing Mr. Grant
from custody without the requirement of cash bail or bond.

29. Respondent's husband represented Mr. Grant at the time
respondent signed the release order. His representation had begun the
same day the release order was signed.

30. On November 30, 1978, Mr. Sims appeared before another
judge in the Buffalo City Court with Mr. Grant.

31. Respondent knew or should have known that at the time she
signed the release her husband represented the defendant.

As to Charge VI of the Formal Written Complaint:

32. On the evening of January 17, 1979, respondent received a tele",:
phone call at her home fromthe mother of Emory Jackson, requesting
Mr. Jackson's release from jail.



33. Mr. Jackson was charged with Assault, First Degree, a felony.

34. Respondent's husband had previously represented Mr. Jackson
and members of his family.

35. Respondent called the Buffalo City Police central booking with
respect to the Jackson case and then signed an order releasing Mr.
Jackson from custody without the requirement of cash bail or bond.

36. On January 18, 1979, respondent's husband appeared before
another judge in the Buffalo City Court with Mr. Jackson.

37. Respondent knew or should have known that signing the release
order outside of court when she was not obligated to do so would lead
Mr. Jackson to seek Mr. Sims' representation in court the following
day.

As to Charge VII of the Formal Written Complaint:

38. On Sunday, March 18, 1979, respondent received a telephone
call at her home from the wife of Cecil Frame, requesting Mr. Frame's
release from jail.

39. Mr. Frame was charged with Leaving The Scene Of An Acci­
dent and Driving While Intoxicated.

40. Mr. Frame was an acquaintance of respondent's husband.
When she called, Ms. Frame told respondent that she knew Mr. Sims.

41. Respondent asked her husband whether he knew Ms. Frame.
Mr. Sims said that he did.

42. Respondent then signed an order releasing Mr. Frame from
custody without the requirement of cash bail or bond.

43. Respondent gave the order to her husband, who then delivered
it to Ms. Frame.

44. On March 19, 1979, Mr. Sims appeared before another judgein
the Buffalo City Court with Mr. Frame.

45. Respondent knew or should have known that signing the release
outside of court when she was not obligated to do so would lead Mr.
Frame to seek Mr. Sims' representation in court the following day.

As to Charge VIII of the Formal Written Complaint:

46. On the night of April 5, 1979, respondent received a telephone
call at her home from a Reverend Jones and from Theodore Williams
requesting the release from jail of Mr. Williams' sons, Reginald and
Dwayne.
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47. Reginald Williams was charged with Reckless Endangerment,
First Degree, and Criminal Possession Of A Weapon, Third Degree,
both felonies. Dwayne Williams was charged with Criminal Mischief,
Fourth Degree, and Assault, Third Degree, both misdemeanors.

48. Mr. Jones was a former client of respondent's husband.

49. Mr. Jones first spoke to respondent, and she agreed to release
the defendants. Theodore Williams then spoke to respondent's hus­
band and asked him to represent the defendants. Mr. Williams asked
Mr. Sims, "Is your wife going to let them out?"

50. Respondent then signed orders releasing the defendants from
custody without the requirement of cash bail or bond.

51. Mr. Jones and Mr. Williams then came to the Sims' home and
picked up the release orders.

52. On April 6, 1979, Mr. Sims appeared before another judge in
the Buffalo City Court with Reginald and Dwayne Williams.

53. Mr. Sims collected a fee for his legal services in this matter.

54. Respondent knew or should have known that agreeing to sign
release orders outside of court when she was not obligated to do so
would lead the defendants to seek Mr. Sims' representation in court.

As to Charge IX of the Formal Written Complaint:

55. On December 27, 1979, respondent received a telephone call at
her home from Augustine Olivencia, a community leader, requesting
the release of Benjamin Rivera from jail.

56. Mr. Rivera was charged with Assault, Second Degree, a felony.

57. Respondent signed an order releasing Mr. Rivera from custody
without the requirement of cash bail or bond.

58. On December 28, 1979, respondent's husband appeared before
another judge in the Buffalo City Court with Mr. Rivera. Mr. Sims
had agreed to represent Mr. Rivera only until his attorney, Loren Lob­
ban, returned from out of town.

59. Respondent knew or should have known that signing the release
outside of court when she was not obligated to do so would lead Mr'­
Rivera to seek Mr. Sims' representation in court the following day.

As to Charge X of the Formal Written Complaint:

60. On December 29, 1979, respondent, at the request of her hus­
band, signed an order releasing Jetone Jones from custody without

. the requirement of cash bail or bond.
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61. Mr. Jones was charged with Menacing, a misdemeanor, and
Harassment, a violation.

62. On December 31, 1979, Mr. Sims appeared before another
judge in the Buffalo City Court with Mr. Jones. Mr. Sims had agreed
to represent Mr. Jones until his attorney, Loren Lobban, returned
from out of town.

63. Mr. Sims intended to collect a fee for his legal services in this
matter.

64. Respondent knew or should have known that signing the release
order would lead Mr. Jones to seek Mr. Sims' representation in court
the following day.

As to Charge XI of the Formal Written Complaint:

65. On December 30, 1979, at approximately 2:00 A.M., respon­
dent's husband received a telephone call at home from the mother of
O'Connor Bowman, requesting his release from jail. Mr. Sims iden­
tified the caller and gave the call to respondent.

66. Mr. Bowman was charged with Criminal Possession Of A
Weapon, Fourth Degree, a misdemeanor.

67. Respondent signed an order releasing Mr. Bowman from
custody without the requirement of cash bail or bond. Mr. Sims pre­
pared the body of the release for respondent's signature.

68. On December 31, 1979, Mr. Sims appeared before another
judge in the Buffalo City Court with Mr. Bowman.

69. Mr. Sims intended to collect a fee for his legal services in the
matter.

70. Respondent knew or should have known that signing the release
order would lead Mr. Bowman to seek Mr. Sims' representation in
court the following day.

Upon the foregoing findings of fact, the Commission concludes as a
matter of law that respondent violated Sections 100.1, 100.2,
100.3(a)(1) and 100.3(c)(I)(iv) (formerly Sections 33.1, 33.2,
33.3[a][l] and 33.3[c][l][iv]) of the RulesGoverning Judicial Conduct
and Canons 1,2, 3A(1) and 3C(1)(d) of the Code of Judicial Conduct.
Charges II through XI of the Formal Written Complaint are sus­
tained, and respondent's misconduct is established. Respondent's
cross-motion is denied.

Respondent released from jail a former client, a client and two
former clients of her husband, an acquaintance of her husband and a
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defendant whose release was sought by a former client of her hus­
band. In one other case, respondent released a defendant from jail at
her husband's request. In still two other cases, respondent signed
release orders delivered to her and prepared for her by her husband. In
these nine cases and in one other in which respondent ordered the
release of a defendant, respondent's husband was later retained by the
defendants to represent them in court. In most of the ten cases, he ap­
peared in court the very next day with defendants released by respon­
dent.

This pattern created the unmistakable impression that respondent
and her husband were acting in concert to free defendants and ad­
vocate their positions in court. It appeared that by a single telephone
caU, a defendant could obtain his release and retain a lawyer to repre­
sent him. By retaining Mr. Sims, a defendant could also obtain his
release from custody. In the case of Reginald and Dwayne Williams,
for example, Mr. Jones, a former client of respondent's husband,
elicited respondent's promise to release the defendants, and in the
same phone call their father retained Mr. Sims.

The way in which respondent and her husband mingled her judicial
functions with his practice of law contributed to the perception that
they acted as a team. He prepared release orders at her request; she
signed orders for his client and former clients, at his request, and upon
his assurance that he was acquainted with a defendant.

Respondent was not obligated to consider the bail applications,
contrary to her contentions. Other judges who had no association with
her husband were available to consider the applications, and five of
the defendants were charged with felonies, for which the law does not
require bail or release. By considering their applications outside of
court when she was not obligated to do so, she was encouraging the
defendants to retain her husband to represent them in later stages of
the proceedings. This was especially so in the seven cases in which the
applications were made on behalf of or by former clients of respon­
dent or her husband or by persons with some other connection with
her husband.

Such encouragement seriously undermined the integrity and inde­
pendence of the judiciary in that it created the appearance that respon­
dent was using her judicial office to favor and benefit her husband's
law practice. See Sections 100.1, 100.2 and l00.3(a)(1) of the Rules
Governing Judicial Conduct.

By reason of the foregoing, the Commission determines that the ap­
propriate sanction is censure.
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Mr. Bower, Mr. Bromberg, Mr. Cleary, Mrs. DelBello, Mr.
Kovner, Judge Shea and Mr. Wainwright concur, except that Mrs.
DelBello dissents as to Charge I only and votes to sustain the charge,
and Mr. Kovner dissents as to Charges II and IX and votes to dismiss
the charges, and dissents as to sanction and votes that respondent be
admonished.

Judge Ostrowski abstained.

Mrs. Robb, Judge Alexander and Judge Rubin were not present.

Dated: May 16, 1983
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STATE OF NEW YORK
COMMISSION ON JUDICIAL CONDUCT

In the Matter of the Proceeding
Pursuant to Section 44, subdivision 4,

of the Judiciary Law in Relation to

BARBARA M. SIMS,

A Judge of the Buffalo City, Court, Erie County.

DISSENTING OPINION BY MRS. DEL BELLO

I concur with the majority's findings that Charges II through XI of
the Formal Written Complaint are sustained and that Judge Sims
should be censured. I respectfully dissent as to the majority's dismissal
of Charge I, however, and vote that the charge be sustained.

Rega'rding Charge I, respondent signed a "Jane Doe" warrant of
arrest in People v. Jeane Ambroselli, notwithstanding that the com­
plaining witness in the case, Frank Sims, was her son.

Frank Sims lives at home with respondent. The name "Frank Sims"
is clearly listed on the supporting information which accompanied the
warrant that respondent signed. Frank Sims' address is clearly listed
on the information, immediately below his name, as "101 Depew".
101 Depew is the respondent's address.

Respondent asserted that she was unaware that her son was the
complainant because she always referred to him by the nickname
"Billy" and did not call him by his given name' 'Frank". This defense
is incredible.

It is unconvincing that a mother would not recognize the name she
gave her own son when it was placed before her in connection with a
summons she was about to sign, and it is also incredible that she
would not recognize her own address.

Even if respondent's defense is accepted at face value, she has at
least violated those sections of the Rules Governing Judicial Conduct
which require a judge to be diligent in the discharge of her duties. She
failed to observe those standards by not realizing that she was signing
a warrant requested by her son, and that such an act would violate the
prohibition on a judge's participation in a case involving relatives.
Sections 100.3(a)(I), 100.3(b)(1) and 100.3(c)(l)(iv) of the Rules. In­
deed, respondent herself acknowledged that she was obliged to review
carefully the supporting information before signing an arrest warrant,
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and that in this case she actually checked to see that Frank Sims had
signed it.

For these reasons I vote that Charge I of the Formal Written Com­
plaint be sustained.

Dated: May 16, 1983
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STATE OF NEW YORK
COMMISSION ON JUDICIAL CONDUCT

In the Matter of the ProceedIng
Pursuant to Section 44, subdivision 4,

of the Judiciary Law in Relation to

BARBARA M. SIMS,

A Judge of the Buffalo City Court, Erie County.

DISSENTING OPINION BY MR. KOVNER

I dissent as to Charges II and IX and find no misconduct. The
essence of the misconduct in the other charges was the involvement of
Judge Sims' husband, an active practitioner, in her judicial responsi­
bilities where the defendants or their families had been previously
represented by respondent's husband.

There was no evidence that Mr. Sims had represented the de­
fendants in Charges II and IX until after the release executed by
respondent. Nor was there evidence in those cases that he had called
police central booking, prepared the body of the release order, or
delivered the release to the defendant. Indeed, in Charge II, the defen­
dant had been subjected to an illegal arrest. Given the limited number
of attorneys and judges in the minority community, the mere fact that
respondent's husband was engaged to represent these defendants on
the day following release by respondent would not necessarily, stand­
ing alone, constitute misconduct.

I believe the sanction of admonition would be appropriate.

Dated: May 16, 1983

NOTE: The Court of Appeals, upon review, did not accept the Com­
mission's determination, concluded that Charges I through XI were
sustained and removed the judge from office. 61 NY2d 349 (1984).
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STATE OF NEW YORK
COMMISSION ON JUDICIAL CONDUCT

In the Matter of the Proceeding
Pursuant to Section 44, subdivision 4,

of the Judiciary Law in Relation to

LOUIS KAPLAN,

A Judge of the Civil Court of the City of New York,
New York County.

The Commission: Mrs. Gene Robb, Chairwoman
Hon. Fritz W. Alexander, II
John J. Bower, Esq.
David Bromberg, Esq.
E. Garrett Cleary, Esq.
Dolores DelBello
Victor A. Kovner, Esq.
Hon. William J. Ostrowski
Hon. Isaac Rubin
Hon. Felice K. Shea
Carroll L. Wainwright, Jr., Esq.*

Appearances: Gerald Stern for the Commission

John H. Doyle, III for
Respondent

The respondent, Louis Kaplan, a judge of the New York City Civil
Court, was served with a Formal Written Complaint dated July 19,
1982, alleging that he assisted his wife in obtaining charitable contri­
butions from lawyers who appeared before him and that he obtained
an adjournment in another court for a friend. Respondent did not file
an answer.

On January 3, 1983, the administrator of the Commission, respon­
dent and respondent's counsel entered into an agreed statement of
facts pursuant to Section 44, subdivision 5, of the Judiciary Law,
waiving the hearing prov,ided for by Section 44, subdivision 4, of the
Judiciary Law, stipulating that the agreed statement be executed in

*Mr. Wainwright's term as a member of the Commission expired on March 31, 1983.
This determination was rendered pursuant to a vote on March 24, 1983.



lieu of respondent's answer and further stipulating that theCommis­
sion make its determination upon the pleadings and the agreed upon
facts.

The Commission approved the agreed statement on January 18,
1983, and, on March 24, 1983, heard oral argument on the issues
herein. Respondent's counsel appeared for oral argument. Thereafter
the Commission considered the record of the proceeding and made the
following findings of fact.

As to Charge I of the Formal Written Complaint:

1. In the summer and fall of 1980, respondent assisted his wife in
connection with advertisements she had solicited for the Park Avenue
Synagogue Dedication Journal, in that respondent on several occa­
sions in chambers gave journal contract forms to attorneys and re­
ceived such forms from attorneys for delivery to his wife.

2. These attorneys had been previously solicited for advertisements
to the journal by respondent's wife.

3. The journal was to be published as part of a fund-raising effort
to defray the costs of the synagogue's newly-constructed religious
school.

4. Respondent's wife received journal contracts from 46 persons.
Twenty-seven of the contracts were received from attorneys or law
firms.

5. Four of these attorneys or law firms appeared once before re­
spondent in the fall of 1980. Fifteen of them appeared more than once
before respondent in the fall of 1980. Eight did not appear before
respondent at all.

6. Some solicitations to attorneys were made at the request of
respondent's wife by Jack Feder, a person who regularly appears in
respondent's court.

As to Charge II of the Formal Written Complaint:

7. On January 5, 1981, a friend of respondent who was the
manager of a clothing store called respondent and told him that the
clothing store was the defendant in a case pending in the Small Claims
Part of the Civil Court in New York County. The case was on the
court calendar for January 6, 1981.

8. Respondent asked the clerk in the Small Claims Part about ob­
taining an adjournment in the case. As a result of the conversation,
the case was adjourned from January 6,1981, to January 13,1981.

230



9. The adjournment was not approved by a judge presiding in the
Small Claims Part. The adjourned date was recorded on the Small
Claims calendar prior to the court session of January 6, 1981.

10. At respondent's suggestion, the defendant advised the plaintiff
of the adjournment by telegram. The plaintiff received the telegram
on January 6, 1981, prior to the time the case was scheduled to be
heard.

11. Respondent also suggested to the store manager that he request
that a judge rather than an arbitrator try the case. On January 13,
1981, the case was tried before an arbitrator. A verdict and judgment
in the plaintiff's favor was entered, and the defendant's counterclaim
was dismissed. The defendant paid the judgment in full.

Upon the foregoing findings of fact, the Commission concludes as a
matter of law that respondent violated Sections 100.1, 100.2 and
100.5(b)(2) of the Rules Governing Judicial Conduct and Canons 1, 2
and 5B(2) of the Code of Judicial Conduct. Charges I and II of the
Formal Written Complaint are sustained, and respondent's mis­
conduct is established.

A judge may not "solicit funds for any educational, religious,
charitable, fraternal or civic organization or use or permit the use of
the prestige of the office for that purpose...." Section 100.5(b)(2) of
the Rules Governing Judicial Conduct. Although the funds were
solicited by his wife, respondent, by distributing and collecting the
advertising contracts, used the prestige of his office to assist her fund­
raising activities. That he did so in his chambers to lawyers exacer­
bates his violation of the rule. Lawyers with matters pending before
respondent or who regularly appeared in his court could not help feel­
ing pressured to cooperate in his wife's efforts in order to maintain
good relations with respondent.

By intervening in a case in another court to obtain an adjournment
for a friend, respondent lent "the prestige of his ... office to ad­
vance the private interests of others.... " See Section 100.2(c) of the
Rules Governing Judicial Conduct. Respondent took advantage of his
position to get from a court clerk what his friend or any other person
could only have obtained from a judge for good cause shown: an ad­
journment of a case scheduled for the following day. Such interven­
tions by a judge cloaked in the authority of his office have in the past
met with public sanction, even when done for understandable reasons.
See Lonschein v. State Commission on Judicial Conduct, 50 NY2d
569 (1980); Shilling v. State Commission on Judicial Conduct, 51
NY2d 397 (1980); Matter of Figueroa, NYLJ, Nov. 28, 1979, p. 11,
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col. 1 (Com. on Jud. Conduct, Nov. 1, 1979). We note that respon­
dent used his office only to seek an adjournment, not to influence the
outcome of his friend's case.

By reason of the foregoing, the Commission determines that the ap­
propriate sanction is admonition.

Judge Alexander, Mr. Bromberg, Mr. Cleary, Mrs. DelBello, Mr.
Kovner, Judge Ostrowski, Judge Shea and Mr. Wainwright concur.

Mr. Bower did not participate.

Mrs. Robb and Judge Rubin were not present.

Dated: May 17, 1983
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STATE OF NEW YORK
COMMISSION ON JUDICIAL CONDUCT

In the Matter of the Proceeding
pursuant to Section 44, subdivision 4,

of the Judiciary Law in Relation to

W. EUGENE SHARPE,

A Justice of the Supreme Court,
Eleventh Judicial District, Queens County.

The Commission: Mrs. Gene Robb, Chairwoman
Hon. Fritz W. Alexander, II
John J. Bower, Esq.
David Bromberg, Esq.
E. Garrett Cleary, Esq.
Dolores DelBello
Victor A. K(Nner, Esq.
Hon.William J. Ostrowski
Hon. Isaac Rubin
Hon. Felice K. Shea

Appearances: Gerald Stern (Robert Straus,
Of Counsel) for the Commission

Flamhaft, Levy, Kamins, Hirsch
& Booth (By William H. Booth)
for Respondent

The respondent, W. Eugene Sharpe, a justice of the Supreme
Court, Eleventh Judicial District, was served with a Formal Written
Complaint dated March 31, 1982, alleging that he improperly cited for
contempt an attorney appearing before him and ordered the attorney
held in detention. Respondent filed an answer dated May 28, 1982.

By order dated June 29, 1982, the Commission designated Seymour
M. Klein, Esq., as referee to hear and report proposed findings of fact
and conclusions of law. The hearing was held on October 18, 1982,
and the referee filed his report with the Commission on February 8,
1983.

By motion dated March 23, 1983, the administrator of the Com­
mission moved to confirm the referee's report and for a determination
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that respondent be censured. Respondent opposed the motion on
April 13, 1983. The Commission heard oral argument on the motion
on April 20, 1983, at which respondent appeared by counsel, and
thereafter considered the record of the proceeding and made the fol­
lowing findings of fact.

1. Respondent is a justice of the Supreme Court, Eleventh Judicial
District, assigned to the Criminal Division, and has been since
January 1979.

2. Seymour Roth is an assistant district attorney in the Queens
County District Attorney's Office and has been a practicing attorney
for 25 years.

3. On Friday, September 4, 1981, respondent presided at a hearing
in People v. Frank Green, in which the defendant was charged with
Attempted Murder. Mr. Roth represented the prosecution.

4. Vincent Pepe, a New York City police officer, was on the witness
stand when the hearing was adjourned until Tuesday, September 8,
198J. Officer Pepe, who was testifying for the prosecution, was
directed to return at 9:30 A.M. on September 8 to continue his testi­
mony.

5. After the hearing was adjourned on September 4, Mr. Roth ar­
ranged to have Officer Pepe assigned to the District Attorney's Office
on September 8 and directed the officer to meet him at 9:30 A.M. that
day.

6. On Tuesday, September 8, 1981, at about 9:30 A.M., when Of­
ficer Pepe failed to meet him at his office, Mr. Roth attempted unsuc­
cessfully to reach the officer by telephone.

7. At about 9:35 A.M., Mr. Roth telephoned respondent's law
secretary, Marvin Scharf, to inform him that Officer Pepe had not yet
arrived, that Mr. Roth was trying to reach him and that they would
come to the courtroom as soon as the officer arrived.

8. Shortly before 10:00 A.M., Mr. Scharf called Mr. Roth and told
him that respondent wanted him in the courtroom immediately.

9. l\..1r. Roth again attempted to reach Officer Pepe and then went
to respondent's courtroom.

10. Respondent came on the bench, and the following colloquy
took place:
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The Court:

Mr. Roth:

The Court:

Mr. Roth:

The Court:

Mr. Roth:

The Court:

Mr. Roth:

The Court:

Mr. Roth:

The Court:

Mr. Roth:

The Court:

Mr. Roth:

The Court:

Where is the police officer, sir?

Your Honor, Officer Pepe came up to our office when
we adjourned last Friday, and we told him to be back
here in court.

I told him to be back, also, at 9:30 this morning.

That's correct.

I told him to be in my office by 9:30. He said he would. I
called the Anti-Crime Unit in Far Rockaway three times.
I was unable to get to anybody.

People at the Precinct put me in touch with the Anti­
Crime Unit, it's a separate unit in Far Rockaway, and
nobody answered the phone. I just called two minutes
ago again, and the line was busy.

I did speak to a Detective Richardson this morning. He
told me he did not get the message which we had left.
That's myself and also Pepe called Friday and told the
Detective Richardson to be down here at nine o'clock
this morning at my office. He told me he did not get
those messages, but he would come down to my office;
and he said he'd be down in my office-

Why would hedo us a favor? I don't need him to do this
Court any favors. He was directed to be here this morn­
ing at 9:30.

I am referring to another witness, Richardson; Detective
Richardson.

That's not who we need. Pepe was in the process of be­
ing cross-examined as I recall it, when we adjourned this
matter on Friday.

Your Honor, I have no idea why he is not here, and I am
continually trying to reach the Anti-Crime Unit and
have not been able to reach anybody yet.

What do you wish to do? We are not going to allow you,
nor any police officer, to determine when this Court
transacts its business, and it is the Court's business, and
not the Prosecutor's business. Is that clear to you, sir?

No, I am sorry. I didn't understand.

I will help, explain you-

May I tell you what my quandary is?

What quandary? What is your quandary?

I understand, and I wanted to proceed this morning at
9:30.

Then it's your responsibility to have your witnesses here.
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Mr. Roth:

The Court:

Mr. Roth:

The Court:

Mr. Roth:

The Court:

Mr. Roth:

The Court:

Mr. Roth:

The Court:

Mr. Roth:

The Court:

Mr. Roth:

The Court:

I am sorry, I can't be responsible­

Why is it you can't be responsible?

-'-for anything but my duty.

What is your duty? Your duty is to have your­

I understand my duties.

Your duty is to have witnesses here. Isn't that your duty,
sir? What is your duty?

I can only try my best.

Trying your best is not enough. Not for this Court.

I can't do anything past that.

You couldn't do anything past that.

I can't do anything but try my best.

Sir, if you don't get the officer in here in two minutes, I
am going to cite you for contempt to this Court. Two
minutes. Two minutes, sir. Did you hear that?

I am sorry. I won't be able to.

You are cited for contempt. Put him in, sir.

11. When respondent told Mr. Roth that he would cite him for con­
tempt if he did not produce Officer Pepe in court in two minutes,
respondent knew that Mr. Roth would be unable to produce the
witness within that time.

12. Before he cited Mr. Roth for contempt, respondent did not
warn Mr. Roth "that his conduct [was] deemed contumacious and
give him an opportunity to desist ..." as required by Section 701.4 of
the Appellate Division Rules.

13. Before he cited Mr. Roth for contempt, respondent did not give
Mr. Roth "a reasonable opportunity to make a statement in his
defense Qr in extenuation of his conduct," as required by Section
701.2(c) of the Appellate Division Rules.

14. After he cited Mr. Roth for contempt, respondent did not set
forth in an order and a mandate of commitment the particularcir­
cumstances of the offense, as required by Sections 752 and 755 of the
Judiciary Law.

15. Mr. Roth had engaged in no improper, discourteous or contu­
macious conduct prior to or at his appearance before respondent on
September 8, 1981. Mr. Roth had never been cited for contempt or
warned that he might be held because of contumacious conduct.
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16. After Mr. Roth was cited for contempt, respondent ordered
Mr. Roth escorted from the courtroom by uniformed officers and
held in the detention area for prisoners, where he remained for from
15 to 45 minutes. The defendant, Frank Green, was also taken into the
detention area. While passing Mr. Roth, Mr. Green laughed at the
prosecutor. While Mr. Roth was being questioned by officers in the
detention area, he was told to keep his voice down so that Mr. Green
could not overhear the prosecutor giving his address.

17. Officer Pepe eventually arrived in court and explained that he
had been tied up in traffic.

18. Mr. Roth was ordered back into the courtroom by respondent.
Respondent vacated the contempt order and ordered Mr. Roth's
record expunged. He did not apologize to Mr. Roth.

19. Respondent previously had experiences in which he felt that
other assistant district attorneys had misled him concerning the avail­
ability of witnesses. Respondent misdirected his annoyance, anger and
frustration with these other prosecutors and with Officer Pepe at Mr.
Roth.

20. In citing Mr. Roth summarily for contempt and ordering him to
be placed in the detention area under guard, respondent abused his
contempt power and improperly subjected Mr. Roth to public
humiliation and embarrassment.

Upon the foregoing findings of fact, the Commission concludes as a
matter of law that respondent violated Sections 100.1, 100.2(a),
l00.3(a)(l) and 100.3(a)(3) of the Rules Governing Judicial Conduct;
Canons 1, 2A, 3A(1) and 3A(3) of the Code of Judicial Conduct; Sec­
tions 752 and 755 of the Judiciary Law; and Sections 701.2(c) and
701.4 of the Appellate Division Rules. The charge in the Formal Writ­
ten Complaint is sustained, and respondent's misconduct is estab­
lished.

By summarily citing Mr. Roth for contempt and ordering him de­
tained, respondent engaged in a gross abuse of power. There could be
no rational basis for citing for contempt a lawyer who, by
respondent's own admission, had engaged in\no improper, discourte­
ous or contumacious conduct. Even if Mr. Roth had acted disrespect­
fully, respondent's hasty citation, made without giving the attorney a
right to explain or purge himself of any contempt, was improper.

Respondent misdirected at Mr. Roth his anger with Officer Pepe
and Mr. Roth's colleagues in the District Attorney's Office. In doing
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so, he departed from the high standards of conduct expected of every
judge. In depriving Mr. Roth of his liberty, even temporarily, respon­
dent deviated from the confines of the law he was sworn to uphold.

By reason of the foregoing, the Commission determines that the ap­
propriate sanction is admonition.

Mrs. Robb, Judge Alexander, Mr. Bromberg, Mr. Cleary, Mrs.
DelBello, Judge Ostrowski and Judge Shea concur.

Mr. Bower dissents as to sanction only and votes that respondent be
censured.

Mr. Kovner and Judge Rubin were not present.

Dated: June 7, 1983
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STATE OF NEW YORK
COMMISSION ON JUDICIAL CONDUCT

In the Matter of the Proceeding
Pursuant to Section 44, subdivision 4,
of the Judiciary Law in Relation to

VINCENT T. CERBONE,

A Justice of the Mount Kisco Town Court, Westchester County.

The Commission: Mrs. Gene Robb, Chairwoman
Hon. Fritz W. Alexander, II
John J. Bower, Esq.
David Bromberg, Esq.
E. Garrett Cleary, Esq.
Dolores DelBello
Victor A. Kovner, Esq.
Hon. William J. Ostrowski
Hon. Isaac Rubin
Hon. Felice K. Shea
John J. Sheehy, Esq.

Appearances: Gerald Stern (Alan W.
Friedberg, Of Counsel)
for the Commission

Morosco & Cunard
(By B. Anthony Morosco)
for Respondent

The respondent, Vincent T. Cerbone, a justice of the Mount Kisco
Town Court, Westchester County, was served with a Formal Written
Complaint dated July 23, 1982, alleging that he addressed patrons of a
bar in a degrading, racist, threatening, profane and abusive manner.
Respondent filed an answer dated August 13, 1982.

By order dated October 18, 1982, the Commission designated Ed­
ward Brodsky, Esq., as referee to hear and report proposed findings
of fact and conclusions of law. The hearing was held on November 15,
16, 18 and 22, 1982, and the referee filed his report with the Com­
mission on March 31, 1983.

, By motion dated April 8, 1983, the administrator of the Com­
mission moved to confirm the referee's report and for a determination



that respondent be removed from office. Respondent opposed the mo­
tion on May 6, 1983. The Commission heard oral argument on the
motion on June 17, 1983, at which respondent and his counsel ap­
peared, and thereafter considered the record of the proceeding and
made the following findings of fact.

1. Respondent, an attorney, is a justice of the Mount Kisco Town
Court. He has been a judge in that community since 1962.

2. On October 25, 1981, respondent went to Finn's Tavern in
Mount Kisco to meet the bar owners, who were clients of respondent.

3. Upon entering the bar, respondent announced to several patrons
that he had seen men engaging in a drug transaction outside tne bar.

4. Respondent then went to a telephone and called the police. He
did not tell the police on the telephone or when they arrived at the bar
that he had witnessed a drug transaction.

5. Four men, Clifton Mosley, James Ferguson, Earl Bynum and
Gary Barker, entered the bar after respondent. Mr. Bynum left
moments later.

6. Respondent addressed Mr. Ferguson as a "drug pusher" and
told him, "If you are going to sell that stuff, do it outside of my pres­
ence,' 'notwithstanding that he had seen no drug sale take place and
had no reason to believe that Mr. Ferguson was engaged in the sale of
narcotics.

7. An argument ensued between respondent and Mr. Ferguson,
Mr. Mosley and Mr. Barker, who are black. Respondent, in a loud
voice, addressed them in a degrading, racist, and profane manner that
was heard by others in the bar. Respondent referred to the men as
"niggers" and "black bastards." He asked them what they were do­
ing in "a white man's bar."

8. Respondent identified himself as a judge and used his judicial
position to threaten the black men by stating that he would incarcerate
them for a specific number of years and would "railroad" and
"hang" them if they ever appeared in his court.

9. Respondent also became involved in a heated argument with a
white patron of the bar, Dennis Moroney, during which respondent
referred to Mr. Moroney by such terms as "son of a bitch,"
"bastard" and "dumb fuck."

10. Respondent discussed leaving the bar to fight Mr. Moroney and
at one point raised his forearm and made contact with Mr. Moroney's
face or neck.
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11. Respondent was in the bar for about an hour, and during this
time he had two drinks. He was not intoxicated.

Upon the foregoing findings of fact, the Commission concludes as a
matter of law that respondent violated Sections 100.1 and 100.2(a) 0f
the Rules Governing Judicial Conduct and Canons 1 and 2A of the
Code of Judicial Conduct. The charge in the Formal Written Com­
plaint is sustained, and respondent's misconduct is established.

Judges are held to a higher standard of conduct on and off the
bench than are members of the public at large. Matter of Kuehnel v.
State Commission on Judicial Conduct, 49 NY2d 465 (1980). Respon­
dent was no ordinary bar patron. At Finn'3 Tavern, he "remained
cloaked figuratively, with his black robe of office...." Matter of
Kuehnel, supra, at 469. Yet, respondent's actions were grossly in­
appropriate even for one not charged with upholding the integrity of
and public confidence in the judiciary.

Respondent walked into a bar and announced to the patrons that
there were men outside "doing drugs" and that he would call the
police. He allowed himself to be drawn into a heated argument, dur­
ing which he loudly used degrading, racist and profane language. By
the account of ten witnesses, he struck one of the patrons and, by his
own admission, discussed fighting the patron outside the bar.

That respondent identified himself as a judge and threatened to use
his judicial office against his antagonists exacerbates his misconduct.

These confrontations took place over a sustained period of time.
The misconduct is not based on a single remark uttered in the heat of
passion or in response to a personal attack. Even respondent's claim
of a trap contrived by all of the many other patrons of the bar (a claim
not sustained by the evidence), would not justify his remaining at the
scene for nearly an hour engaging in such conduct.

The law of New York is now clear that racist conduct by a member
of the judiciary will not be tolerated. Matter ofKuehnel, supra; Mat­
ter ofAldrich v. State Commission on Judicial Conduct, 58 NY2d 279
(1983). No citizen should be required to appear before a judge who
publicly uses terms such as "niggers" and "black bastards," and who
questions the right of black patrons to visit "a white man's bar."

Even where a judge's use of profane and racist language has been
influenced by alcohol, he has been held to have irretrievably lost
public confidence so as to be unfit to hold judicial office. Matter of
Aldrich, supra. Here, respondent's actions were not influenced by
alcohol.



Such conduct would be outrageous from a private citizen. Coming
from one who brandishes his judicial office, it becomes especially in­
tolerable. Despite his 20 years of service on the bench, respondent's
conduct at Finn's Tavern effectively.terminated public confidence in
his ability to fairly and impartially adjudicate matters without bias.

By reason of the foregoing, the Commission determines that the ap­
propriate sanction is removal.

Mrs. Robb, Mr. Bower, Mr. Bromberg, Mrs. DelBello, Mr.
Kovner, Judge Ostrowski, Judge Rubin and Judge Shea concur.

Judge Alexander and Mr. Cleary were not present.

Mr. Sheehy was not a member of the Commission at the time the
vote in this proceeding was taken.

Dated: August 5, 1983

NOTE: The Court of Appeals, upon review, accepted the Com­
mission's determination that respondent be removed. 61 NY2d 93
(1984).
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STATE OF NEW YORK
COMMISSION ON JUDICIAL CONDUCT

In the Matter of the Proceeding
Pursuant to Section 44, subdivision 4,

of the Judiciary Law in Relation to

WARREN L. BOULANGER,

A Justice of the Cold Spring Village Court, Putnam County.

The Commission: Mrs. Gene Robb, Chairwoman
Hon. Fritz W. Alexander, II
John J. Bower, Esq.
David Bromberg, Esq.
E. Garrett Cleary, Esq.
Dolores DelBello
Victor A. Kovner, Esq.
Hon. William J. Ostrowski
Hon. Isaac Rubin
Hon. Felice K. Shea
John J. Sheehy, Esq.

Appearances: Gerald Stern (Robert
Straus, Of Counsel) for the
Commission

Shulman, Boulanger & Carlo,
P.C. (By Louis G. Carlo)
for Respondent

The respondent, WarrenL. Boulanger, an attorney, is a justice of
the Cold Spring Village Court, Putnam County. Respondent was
served with a Formal Written Complaint dated November 10, 1982,
alleging, inter alia, that he transferred to himself certain assets of a
client of his private law practice. Respondent filed an answer dated
January 14, 1983.

By order dated December 17, 1982, the Commission designated
William V. Maggipinto, Esq., as referee to hear and report proposed
findings of fact and conclusions of law. The hearing was held on
January 19, 1983, and the referee filed his report with the Commission
on May 2, 1983.
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By motion dated May 16, 1983, the administrator of the Commis­
sion moved to confirm the referee's report and for a determination
that respondent be removed from office. Respondent opposed the mo­
tion on June 3, 1983. The Commission heard oral argument on the
motion on June 16, 1983, at which respondent and his counsel ap­
peared, and thereafter considered the record of the proceeding and
made the following findings of fact.

As to Charge I of the Formal Written Complaint:

1. In January 1975, respondent prepared a document giving him a
general power of attorney for Fred H. M. Dunseith and naming him
Mr. Dunseith's attorney-in-fact. The power of attorney was signed by
Mr. Dunseith on January 7, 1975, in the presence of respondent with
no witnesses. Respondent notarized Mr. Dunseith's signature.

2. At the time, Mr. Dunseith was 95 years old, legally blind, par­
tially deaf and lived in a nursing home. The execution of the power of
attorney took place in Mr. Dunseith's room at the nursing home.

3. In April 1975, respondent used his power of attorney to sell Mr;
Dunseith's home to a third party. Respondent deposited the proceeds
of the sale, approximately $48,300, in a bank account maintained and
controlled by respondent. He used the proceeds of the sale to pay his
personal bills and expenses.

4. In or about November 1975, respondent used his power of at­
torney to sell certain stock of Mr. Dunseith for $8,524.25. The pro­
ceeds of the sale were initially deposited in a brokerage account in the
name of respondent as attorney for Mr. Dunseith. They were later
withdrawn by respondent and deposited in respondent's savings ac­
count. Respondent used the money for his personal needs.

5. In January 1976, Mr. Dunseith gave respondent a special power
of attorney for a Dime Savings Bank account. Respondent made two
withdrawals from this account in January 1976, one of $7,500 and the
other of$24,888.88. Respondent deposited the $7,500 in his personal
checking account and used the money for his personal bills and living
expenses. He deposited the $24,888.88 in his personal savings account.

6. In October 1976, using his power of attorney, respondent with­
drew a total of $6,000 from Mr. Dunseith's checking and savings ac­
counts. Respondent kept the money for himself as a retainer for his
legal work on behalf of Mr. Dunseith.

7. In January 1977, using his power of attorney, respondent sold
for $72,000 other stock owned by Mr. Dunseith. Approximately one­
half of the proceeds of the sale was used by respondent to purchase
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new stock in Mr. Dunseith's name. The balance was deposited in the
stockbroker's cash reserve management account in the name of Mr.
Dunseith. Respondent later drew two checks against that account, one
for $10,000 and one for $2,500, and the broker sent respondent a
check for the balance of $23,650. Respondent deposited the $2,500 in
his personal checking account and used it to pay personal bills and ex­
penses. He deposited the $10,000 and the $23,650 in his personal sav­
ings account.

8. In the spring of 1977, respondent closed a bank account of Mr.
Dunseith in a Scranton, Pennsylvania, bank. Respondent used the
$3,928 from the account for his personal needs.

9. On May 28, 1976, respondent wrote two letters to the Newburgh
Savings Bank, falsely stating that Mr. Dunseith had died and request­
ing that several accounts in respondent's name "in trust" for Mr.
Dunseith be changed to respondent's name alone. Respondent wrote
these letters to avoid the imposition of penalties in requesting changes
in the titles of the account. He wrote them shortly after a matrimonial
action brought by his former wife had been settled.

10. On March 5, 1976, respondent filed a false and fraudulent
financial affidavit in the matrimonial action for the purpose of con­
cealing his property and financial assets from his former wife.

11. In August 1981, at a time when he knew that he was under
criminal investigation, respondent filed late gift tax returns for 1975,
1976, and 1977, on behalf of Mr. Dunseith, causing his estate to pay
$15,000 in penalties and taxes.

As to Charge II of the Formal Written Complaint:

12. On November 18, 1982, respondent was sentenced to federal
prison by the United States District Court for the Southern District of
New York, having been found guilty by a jury of three counts of
violating Section 7201 of Title 26 of the United States Code, a felony,
by unlawfully, knowingly and willfully attempting to evade income
,taxes by means of filing false and fraudulent income tax returns.

Upon the foregoing findings of fact, the Commission concludes as a
matter of law that respondent violated Sections 100.1 and 100.2(a) of
the Rules Governing Judicial Conduct and Canons 1 and 2A of the
Code of Judicial Conduct. Charges I and II of the Formal Written
Complaint are sustained, and respondent's misconduct is established.

As attorney-in-fact for Mr. Dunseith, respondent acted as a fidu­
ciary for his client. McMahon v. Pfister, 39AD2d 691 (lst Dept.
1972). He was, thus, required to handle his client's money in the best
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interests of the client. Nonetheless, respondent transferred to himself
$135,000 of Mr. Dunseith's money. As the referee found,
respondent's position that this money was given by Mr. Dunseith as
gifts is "uncorroborated, incredible and inherently unreliable, since it
is self-serving. . . ." Even assuming that Mr. Dunseith had repeatedly
told respondent to take vast sums of money, such transfers were of
dubious benefit to Mr. Dunseith, and, given his age and infirmities,
respondent should have questioned whether they were in the client's
best interests.

This gross abuse of the trust placed in him by his client and by the
state that licenses him to practice law is exacerbated by a series of
deliberate deceptions on the part of respondent. He admits that he
falsely reported the death of Mr. Dunseith to a bank in order to avoid
paying interest penalties and that he i*iled a false and fraudulent finan­
cial affidavit in a divorce proceeding in order to conceal assets from
his former wife. There is also evidence that he filed false income tax
returns for the purpose of avoiding payment of taxes. Furthermore,
his testimony before the Commission and at his federal court trial, the
transcript pf which is part of the record of this proceeding, "lack[s]
the ring of truth." Matter of Steinberg v. State Commission on
Judicial Conduct, 51 NY2d 74, 81 (1980).

The judiciary cannot accommodate one who so consistently aban­
dons his ethical obligations. "[A] Judge cannot simply cordon off his
public role from his private life and assume safely that the former will
have no impact on the latter." Matter of Steinberg, supra. By his un­
principled conduct as an attorney, respondent has brought the
judiciary into disrepute and has demonstrated that he is unfit for
judicial office.

By reason of the foregoing, the Commission determines that the ap­
propriate sanction is removal.

Mrs. Robb, Judge Alexander, Mr. Bower, Mr. Bromberg, Mrs.
DelBello, Mr. Kovner, Judge Ostrowski and Judge Shea concur.

Mr. Cleary and Judge Rubin were not present.

Mr. Sheehy was not a member of the Commission at the time the
vote in this proceeding was taken.

Dated: August 10, 1983

NOTE: The Court of Appeals, upon review, accepted the Commis­
sion's determination that respondent be removed. 61 NY2d 89 (1984).
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STATE OF NEW YORK
COMMISSION ON JUDICIAL CONDUCT

In the Matter of the Proceeding
Pursuant to Section 44, subdivision 4,
of the Judiciary Law in Relation to

ROBERTW. KELSO,

A Justice of the Montgomery Town Court, Orange County.

The Commission: Mrs. Gene Robb, Chairwoman
Hon. Fritz W. Alexander, II
John J. Bower, Esq.
David Bromberg, Esq.
E. Garrett Cleary, Esq.
Dolores DelBello
Victor A. Kovner, Esq.
Hon. William J. Ostrowski
Hon. Isaac Rubin
Hon. Felice K. Shea
John J. Sheehy, Esq.

Appearances: Gerald Stern (Robert Straus,
Of Counsel) for the Commission

G. R. Bartlett, Jr., for
Respondent

The respondent, Robert W. Kelso, is an attorney and has been a
justice of the Montgomery Town Court, Orange County, since 1973.
He was served with a Formal Written Complaint dated October 4,
1982, alleging certain improprieties in connection with his private law
practice. Respondent filed an answer dated October 21, 1982.

By order dated January 4, 1983, the Commission designated Rich­
ard D. Parsons, Esq., as referee to hear and report proposed findings
of fact and conclusions of law. The hearing was held on March 9,
1983, and the referee filed his report with the Commission on May 27,
1983. .

By motion dated June 20, 1983, the administrator of the Commis­
sion moved to confirm the referee's report and for a determination
that respondent be removed from office. Respondent opposed the mo­
tion by cross-motion on July 11, 1983. The Commission heard oral
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argument on the motion on July 21,1983, at which respondent and his
counsel appeared, and thereafter considered the record of the
proceeding and made the following findings of fact.

As to Charge I of the Formal Written Complaint:

1. In 1972, respondent was retained by Charles Duryea to pursue
legal claims arising from an injury received in an accident at his place
of employment.

2. In 1975, Mr. Duryea received approximately $2,000 in satisfac­
tion of a Workers' Compensation claim arising from his injury.

3. Although respondent knew that Section 11 of the Workers'
Compensation Law precluded a civil action for damages for personal
injuries arising from the accident, he told Mr. Duryea that he would
bring such a claim. He did not advise Mr. Duryea that such an action
was precluded.

4. From 1975 to 1979, respondent made numerous misrepresen­
tations to Mr. Duryea. He told Mr. Duryea that he had commenced a
civil action for damages, that the action had been placed on the court
calendar and that it had been adjourned several times. In fact, respon­
dent had commenced no action and all of his statements were false.

5. Respondent made these misrepresentations to deceive Mr.
Duryea into believing that his action had been commenced and was
proceeding.

6. On January 4, 1980, respondent instituted a civil action on Mr.
Duryea's behalf, although he knew that recovery on the claim was
then barred by both Section 11 of the Workers' Compensation Law
and the statute of limitations. He did not advise Mr. Duryea that
recovery was barred. Respondent withdrew the complaint after Mr.
Duryea retained another attorney and filed a grievance against re­
spondent.

As to Charge II of the Formal Written Complaint:

7. On February 20, 1980, respondent offered to pay Mr. Duryea
$10,000 for the purpose of inducing him not to file a grievance for
professional misconduct against respondent. Respondent confirmed
the offer in writing on February 21, 1980.

8. Because Mr. Duryea thereafter filed the grievance, respondent
never paid the money as promised.

As to Charge III of the Formal Written Complaint:

9. On the basis of Mr. Duryea's grievance, formal charges were in­
stituted against respondent, and on June 1, 1982, he was suspended
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from the practice of law for one year by the Appellate Division, Sec­
ond Department.

Upon the foregoing findings of fact, the Commission concludes as a
matter of law that respondent violated Sections 100.1, l00.2(a) and
lOO.3(a)(I) of the Rules Governing Judicial Conduct and Canons 1,
2A and 3A(1) of the Code of Judicial Conduct. Charges I through III
of the Formal Written Complaint are sustained, and respondent's mis­
conduct is established. Respondent's cross-motion is denied.

Over a period of years, in dozens of conversations, respondent
deliberately deceived a client who had placed his trust in respondent to
give truthful legal advice and conscientious legal assistance. In
violating that trust, respondent prejudiced the administration of
justice. Such misconduct by one who also sits as a judge "engender[s]
disrespect for the entire judiciary." In re Ryman, 394 Mich 637, 232
NW2d 178, 184 (1975).

Respondent compounded his misconduct by offering his client
$10,000 to dissuade him from filing a grievance-a right available to
the client as a matter of law. Respondent's offer was malum in se. By
this act, respondent further destroyed public confidence in his ability
to adhere to the high standards of conduct expected of every judge.

By reason of the foregoing, the Commission determines that the ap­
propriate sanction is removal.

Mrs. Robb, Mrs. DelBello, Mr. Kovner, Judge Rubin, Judge Shea
and Mr. Sheehy concur.

Mr. Cleary and Judge Ostrowski dissent as to sanction only and
vote that respondent be censured.

Judge Alexander, Mr. Bower and Mr. Bromberg were not present.

Dated: September 21, 1983
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STATE OF NEW YORK
COMMISSION ON JUDICIAL CONDUCT

In the Matter of the Proceeding
Pursuant to Section 44, subdivision 4,
of the Judiciary Law in Relation to

ROBERT W. KELSO,

A Justice of the Montgomery Town Court, Orange County.

DISSENTING OPINION BY MR. CLEARY
IN WHICH JUDGE OSTROWSKI JOINS

On this record, I do not feel that the sanction of removal is ap­
propriate. Removal is an extreme sanction and should be imposed
only in the event of truly egregious circumstances. Matter of Stein­
berg, 51 NY2d 74, 83. The Court of Appeals recently indicated that
removal should not be ordered for conduct that amounts simply to
poor judgment, or even extremely poor judgment. Matter of Cun­
ningham, 57 NY2d 270, 275, citing Matter of Shilling, 51 NY2d 397,
403, and Matter of Steinberg, supra, at 81. Under the circumstances
of this case, I feel that censure is the appropriate sanction.

Dated: September 21, 1983

NOTE: The Court of Appeals, upon review, modified the Commis­
sion's determination to censure. 61 NY2d 82 (1984).
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STATE OF NEW YORK
COMMISSION ON JUDICIAL CONDUCT

In the Matter of the Proceeding
Pursuant to Section 44, subdivision 4,
of the Judiciary Law in Relation to

PAUL E. HUTZKY,

A Justice of the Saratoga Town Court, Saratoga County.

The Commission: Mrs. Gene Robb, Chairwoman
Hon. Fritz W. Alexander, II
John J. Bower, Esq.
David Bromberg, Esq.
E. Garrett Cleary, Esq.
Dolores DelBello
Victor A. Kovner, Esq.
Hon. William J. Ostrowski
Hon. Isaac Rubin
Hon. Felice K. Shea
John J. Sheehy, Esq.

Appearances: Gerald Stern (Stephen F.
Downs and Henry S. Stewart,
Of Counsel) for the Commission

David L. Riebel for Respondent

The respondent, Paul E. Hutzky, a justice of the Saratoga Town
Court, Saratoga County, was served with a Formal Written Com­
plaint dated May 2, 1983, alleging that he had failed to meet various
records keeping and financial reporting, deposit and remittance re­
quirements. Respondent did not file an answer.

On September 16, 1983, the administrator of the Commission,
respondent and respondent's counsel entered into an agreed statement
of facts pursuant to Section 44, subdivision 5, of the Judiciary Law,
waiving the hearing provided for by Section 44, subdivision 4, of the
Judiciary Law, stipulating that the agreed statement be executed in

. lieu of respondent's answer and further stipulating that the Commis­
sion make its determination upon the pleadings and the agreed upon
facts.
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The Commission approved the agreed statement and, on October
13, 1983, considered the record of the proceeqing and made the fol­
lowing findings of fact.

Preliminary findings:

1. Respondent is a justice of the Saratoga Town Court and has
been since January 1978.

2. Respondent was a justice of the Schuylerville Village Court from
October 1980 to September 1982.

3. Respondent holds a master's degree in education and has re­
ceived credit toward a doctorate.

4. Respondent has successfully completed three training sessions
for non-lawyer judges given by the Office of Court Administration.

As to Charge I of the Formal Written Complaint:

5. Between January 1978 and January 25, 1983, respondent failed
to deposit court moneys into his official account within 72 hours of
receipt in that he:

(a) Made no deposits in his town court account from March 15,
1980, to June 3, 1980, notwithstanding that he received a total
of $1,863 in court funds in his town court during that period;

(b) made no deposits in his town court account from February 28,
1981, to May 28, 1981, notwithstanding that he received a total
of $830 in court funds in his town court during that period;

(c) made no deposits in his village court account from April 4,
1981, to May 28, 1981, notwithstanding that he received a total
of $2,540 in court funds in his village court during that period;

(d) made no deposits in his village court account from August 1,
1981, to September 28, 1981, notwithstanding that he received a
total of $1,823.25 in court funds in his village court during that
period;

(e) deposited money in his court accounts at an average frequency
of once a month between January 1980 and May 1981;

(f) did not deposit a $10 check received on May 15, 1981, on behalf
of the defendant in People v. David Jordan;

(g) did not deposit until December 3, 1982, a total of $50 in cash
received on September 4, 1980, from the defendants in People
v. Theresa Mayer, People v. Gerald G. Mayer and People v.
Dale P. Mayer;

252



(h) did not deposit a $20 money order received on July 28, 1981,
from the defendant in People v. Frederick Trinkaus;

(i) did not deposit $5 in cash received in October 1981 from the
defendant in People v. Linda Kosloske;

(j) did not deposit a $250 check received on June 3, 1982, from the
defendant in People v. Kenneth Tilford; and,

(k) did not deposit a $25 money order received on October 31,
1981, from the defendant in People v. Edward White.

6. Respondent kept undeposited court funds in his home freezer, in
his shoes and at other locations in his house for substantial periods of
time.

7. Respondent made deposits only.when he remembered to do so.
The bank in which his official accounts were held was only a half mile
from his home.

8. Respondent was aware that he was required by law to deposit
court funds in his official accounts within 72 hours of receipt.

As to Charge II of the Formal Written Complaint:

9. On June 2, 1981, during an audit of his town court, respondent
falsely certified in writing to the Department of Audit and Control
that he had no undeposited court funds and no cash on hand in his
town court.

10. In fact, on June 2, 1981, respondent had more than $300 in
court funds at his home. Respondent deposited these court funds after
the auditor called his attention to a deficiency in his court account.

11. Respondent did not then know and still does not know the exact
amount of funds hidden in his house, to what cases the funds relate,
or how long they have lain undeposited in his house.

As to Charge III of the Formal Written Complaint:

12. From the time that he took judicial office in January 1978,
respondent failed to perform his administrative and judicial duties in
that he:

(a) Failed to respond to 42 defendants who pled guilty by mail to
traffic tickets in respondent's court;

(b) failed to return 48 driver's licenses to defendants who sent in
their licenses in connection with pleas of guilty to trafffic

I

charges; .,'

(c) failed to dispose of 282 cases;
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(d) failed to make entries in his docket book for 456 cases pending
in his court;

(e) failed to maintain any records for 63 cases pending in his court;

(f) failed to report and remit to the Department of Audit and Con~

trol in a timely manner a total of $6,533.05 in fines received
over a period of nearly four years from defendants in 183 cases;

(g) failed to report to law enforcement agencies the disposition of
99 cases brought by those agencies in respondent's court;

(h) failed to submit certificates of conviction to the Department of
Motor Vehicles for 44 cases which were disposed of by respon­
dent;

(i) failed to report cases and remit moneys received to the Depart­
ment of Audit and Control in a timely manner, in that reports
were submitted an average of three weeks late for the town and
an average of more than one month late for the village, with one
village report submitted 172 days late; and,

(j) failed to maintain case files and indices of cases for all cases in
his town and village courts.

As to Charge IV of the Formal Written Complaint:

13. Respondent failed to explain to the Commission staff the status
of hundreds of cases or to give information concerning those cases,
notwithstanding that the information was requested seven times over a
period of five months.

Upon the foregoing findings of fact, the Commission concludes as a
matter of law that respondent violated Sections 100.1, 100.2(a),
l00.3(a)(5) and 100.3(b)(l) of the Rules Governing Judicial Conduct; .
Canons 1, 2A, 3A(5) and 3B(l) of the Code of Judicial Conduct; Sec­
tions 107, 2019, 2019-a, 2020 and 2021(1) of the Uniform Justice
Court Act; Sections 30.7(a) and 30.9 of the Uniform Justice Court
Rules; Sections 105.1 and 105.3 of the RecordkeepingRequirements
for Town and Village Courts; Section 91.12 of the Regulations of the
Commissioner of the Department of Motor Vehicles (15 NYCRR
91.12); Section 1803 of the Vehicle and Traffic Law; Section 27 of the
Town Law; and Section 4-410(1) of the Village Law. Charges I
through IV of the Formal Written Complaint are sustained, and
respondent's misconduct is established.

Respondent has neglected nearly every aspect of his judicial and ad­
ministrative duties. As a result, the records of his courts are a
shambles. No one, including respondent, can reconstruct what cases
have come before him and how they were handled.
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Respondent is well educated and has no excuse for his gross
negligence except "bad habits" and "sloppy bookkeeping." He has
mishandled hundreds of cases and thousands of dollars in public
moneys. Such disregard of a judge's statutory responsibilities war­
rants removal from office. Bartlett v. Flynn, 50 AD2d 401 (4th Dept.
1976); Matter of Petrie, 54 NY2d 807 (1981); Matter of Cooley, 53
NY2d 64 (1981).

By reason of the foregoing, the Commission determines that the ap­
propriate sanction is removal.

All concur.

Dated: November 4, 1983
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STATE OF NEW YORK
COMMISSION ON JUDICIAL CONDUCT

In the Matter of the Proceeding
Pursuant to Section 44, subdivision 4,

of the Judiciary Law in Relation to

LUVERN W. MOORE,

A Justice of the Kinderhook Town Court, Columbia County.

The Commission: Mrs. Gene Robb, Chairwoman
Hon. Fritz W. Alexander, II
John J. Bower, Esq.
David Bromberg, Esq.
E. Garrett Cleary, Esq.
Dolores DelBello
Victor A. Kovner, Esq.
Hon. William J. Ostrowski
Hon. Isaac Rubin
Hon. Felice K. Shea
John J. Sheehy, Esq.

Appearances: Gerald Stern (Henry S.
Stewart, Of Counsel)
for the Commission

The respondent, Luvern W. Moore, a justice of the Kinderhook
Town Court, Columbia County, was served with a Formal Written
Complaint dated August 3, 1983, alleging that he had made false en­
tries in his court records. Respondent did not answer the Formal Writ­
ten Complaint.

By motion dated September 16, 1983, the administrator ·of the
Commission moved for summary determination and a finding that
respondent's misconduct was established. Respondent did not oppose
the motion or file any papers in response thereto.

By determination and order dated October 17, 1983, the Com­
mission granted the administrator's motion, found respondent's mis­
conduct established and set a schedule for argument as to appropriate
sanction. The administrator submitted a memorandum in lieu of oral
argument. Respondent neither submitted a memorandum nor re­
quested oral argument.
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On November 4, 1983, the Commission considered the record of the
proceeding and made the following findings of fact.

As to Charge I of the Formal Written Complaint:

1. On August 10, 1982, respondent fined the defendant in People v.
Miroslaw Kozlowski $40 on a charge of Speeding.

2. Respondent received $40 in cash from the defendant and issued a
receipt, number 3145, to the defendant for $40.

3. On the same date, at about 7:00 P.M., respondent wrote a sec­
ond receipt, number 3020, falsely stating that he had received $30
from the defendant. Respondent also marked on a copy of the
Uniform Traffic Ticket that he had received only $30.

4. Respondent made the false entry intentionally and knowingly in
an attempt to conceal his larceny of $10.

5. On May 20, 1983, respondent was charged with violating Section
175.10 of the Penal Law, Falsifying Business Records, First Degree, a
Class E felony.

6. On the same date, respondent pled guilty to the reduced charge
of Falsifying Business Records, Second Degree, a Class A mis­
demeanor (Section 175.05 of the Penal Law).

7. On June 20, 1983, respondent was sentenced to three years pro­
bation on the condition that he make restitution of $1,070 and resign
his judicial office.

As to Charge II of the Formal Written Complaint:

8. Between April 28, 1981, and November 30, 1982, in 34 cases,
respondent wrote bogus receipts which falsely stated that he had
received lesser amounts of money in fines from defendants than he
had actually received.

9. Respondent kept the false receipts as part of his official court
records and reported and remitted to the Department of Audit and
Control only the lesser amounts listed on the false receipts.

10. Respondent withheld from the Department of Audit and Con­
trol amounts ranging from $5 to $100 from each of the defendants in
the 34 cases. The total amount withheld was $1,015.

Upon the foregoing findings of fact, the Commission determines as
a matter of law that respondent violated Sections 100.1, 100.2(a) and
l00.3(a)(1) of the Rules Governing Judicial Conduct; Canons 1, 2A
and 3A(1) of the Code of Judicial Conduct; Sections 107, 2019,
2019-a, 2020 and 2021(1) of the Uniform Justice Court Act; Section
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1803 of the Vehicle and Traffic Law; and Section 27(1) of the Town
Law. Charges I and II of the Formal Written Complaint are sustained,
and respondent's misconduct is established.

Respondent was plainly engaged in a scheme to misappropriate
funds received in his official capacity and to conceal his misconduct
by falsifying court records. Deception is antithetical to the role of a
judge who is sworn to uphold the law and seek the truth. Matter of
Steinberg v. State Commission on Judicial Conduct, 51 NY2d 74, 78
(1980).

By falsely certifying the receipt of public monies and maintaining
personal control over them for extended periods of time, respondent
violated the legal, administrative and ethical duties of a judge. Such
misconduct warrants removal. Matter of James O. Kane, unreported
(Com. on Jud. Conduct, March 5, 1979); Matter of Hollebrandt, un­
reported (Com. on Jud. Conduct, Nov. 12, 1980); Matter of Godin,
unreported (Com. on Jud. Conduct, Jan. 26, 1983).

By reason of the foregoing, the Commission determines that the ap­
propriate sanction is removal.

This determination is rendered pursuant to Section 47 of the
Judiciary Law in view of respondent's resignation from the bench.

Mrs. Robb, Mr. Bower, Mr. Bromberg, Mr. Cleary, Mrs. DelBello,
Mr. Kovner, Judge Ostrowski, Judge Shea and Mr. Sheehy concur.

Judge Alexander and Judge Rubin were not present.

Dated: November 10, 1983
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STATE OF NEW YORK
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Pursuant to Section 44, subdivision 4,

of the Judiciary Law in Relation to

ROBERT M. JACON,

A Justice of the East Greenbush Town Court, Rensselaer County.

The Commission: Mrs. Gene Robb, Chairwoman
Hon. Fritz W. Alexander, II
John J. Bower, Esq.
David Bromberg, Esq.
E. Garrett Cleary, Esq.
Dolores DelBello
Victor A. Kovner, Esq.
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Hon. Isaac Rubin
Hon. Felice K. Shea
John J. Sheehy, Esq.

Appearances: Gerald Stern (John J. Postel
and Henry S. Stewart, Of
Counsel) for the Commission

Jack J. Pivar for Respondent

The respondent, Robert M. Jacon, a justice of the East Greenbush
Town Court, Rensselaer County, was served with a Formal Written
Complaint dated December 7, 1982, alleging that he presided over a
case involving a client of his private law practice. Respondent filed an
answer dated January 7, 1983.

By order dated February 10, 1983, the Commission designated the
Honorable James A. O'Connor as referee to hear and report proposed
findings of fact and conclusions of law. The hearing was held on April
14, 1983, and the referee filed his report with the Commission on
August 23, 1983.

By motion dated September 15, 1983, the administrator of the
Commission moved to confirm in part and disaffirm in part the
referee's report, to adopt additional findings of fact and conclusions
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of law and for a determination that respondent be censured. Respon­
dent moved on October 3, 1983, to c,onfirm the referee's report and to
dismiss the Formal Written Complaint. The administrator submitted a
reply to respondent's motion on October 6, 1983. The Commission
heard oral argument on the motions on October 13, 1983, at which
respondent and his counsel appeared, and thereafter considered the
record of the proceeding and made the following findings of fact.

1. Respondent is a part-time justice of the East Greenbush Town
Court and has been since January 1978.

2. Respondent is also an attorney who has a private law practice in
East Greenbush.

3. Patrick Trexler was a client of respondent from 1974 to 1982.

4. On May 20, 1980, Mr. Trexler was arrested on a charge of dis­
orderly conduct in the Town of East Greenbush as the result of a
domestic disturbance in which he was alleged to have been drinking.

5. The case was scheduled for respondent's court on June 5, 1980.

6. Sometime before June 5, 1980, respondent learned of the case
and told Mr. Trexler not to appear in court. Respondent told Mr.
Trexler that he would see what disposition of the case the arresting of­
ficer, Sergeant Robert N. Kroll, would like.

7. The case was called in respondent's court on June 5, 1980.
Sergeant Kroll was present in the courtroom. Mr. Trexler was not.

S. Respondent engaged in an ex parte discussion with Sergeant
Kroll in which the police officer described the case as "junk" and
indicated that, as the officer designated by the district attorney to
prosecute the case, he would agree to an adjournment in contempla­
tion of dismissal as an appropriate disposition.

9. Respondent adjourned the case in contemplation of dismissal
and assured Sergeant Kroll that he would speak with Mr. Trexler
,about his drinking habits.

10. Respondent did not inform Sergeant Kroll that Mr. Trexler was
a longstanding client of his private law practice.

11. At no time did respondent disqualify himself and transfer the
case to another judge.

Upon the foregoing findings of fact, the Commission concludes as a
matter of law' that respondent violated Sections 100.1, 100.2,.
100.3(a)(1), 100.3(a)(4) and 100.3(c)(1) of the Rules Governing
Judicial Conduct and Canons 1, 2A, 3A(1), 3A(4) and 3C(1) of the

260



Code of Judicial Conduct. The charge in the Formal Written Com­
plaint is sustained, and respondent's misconduct is established.
Respondent's motion to dismiss is denied.

Respondent acted as both judge and attorney in handling the Trex­
ler matter. He presided over the case and disposed of it in his judicial
capacity, and at the same time he counseled the defendant and nego­
tiated a disposition as defense counsel. Although respondent is per­
mitted to practice law, he is required to distinguish scrupulously his
judicial function from his role as advocate. A judge may not sit as a
neutral and impartial arbiter and, in the same case, represent one of
the parties. To do so, creates an appearance of favoritism.

By reason of the foregoing, the Commission determines that the ap­
propriate sanction is admonition.

Mrs. Robb, Judge Alexander, Mr. Bromberg, Mrs. DelBello , Mr.
Kovner, Judge Rubin and Mr. Sheehy concur.

Mr. Bower, Mr. Cleary, Judge Ostrowski and Judge Shea dissent as
to sanction only and vote that the appropriate disposition would be a
letter of dismissal and caution.

Dated: November 28, 1983
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DISSENTING OPINION BY JUDGE OSTROWSKI
IN WHICH MR. BOWER, MR. CLEARY
AND JUDGE SHEA JOIN

The genesis of this proceeding was a noisy argument between
former spouses in the home of the ex-wife to which the father of their
child had gone to babysit. A neighbor called the police. An officer
asked the father to step outside and then arrested him for disorderly
conduct. No one in the home wanted the police or called the police.
No accusatory instrument or supporting deposition was ever executed
by anyone in the home. There is nothing to indicate that anyone other
than a single neighbor and the arresting officer heard the argument.

On this record, there does not appear to be even the semblance of a
prima facie case of disorderly conduct. People v. Munafo, 50 NY2d
326, and particularly People v. Canner and People v. Chesnick, cited
therein. Hence, the proceeding should have been terminated by'
dismissal of the accusatory instrument pursuant to Section 170.35(a)
of the Criminal Procedure Law, by the granting of a trial order of
dismissal pursuant to Section 290.10, Criminal Procedure Law, or by
acquittal. Rather than the total vindication the defendant seems to
have been entitled to, there was an adjournment in contemplation of
dismissal pursuant to Section 170.55 of the Criminal Procedure Law.
Hence, what this case involves is an accusation of an offense of less
than misdemeanor grade which was baseless and which should never
have been made.

The only reason the case is before the Commission is that the de­
fendant was a client of the judge who is also a practicing lawyer. But
the judge was well aware of his obligation to disqualify himself and, in
open court, announced his intention to transfer the case to another
judge at which point the arresting officer described the charge as
"junk" and suggested an adjournment in contemplation of dismissal,
which the court granted.
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The respondent acknowledges that he should not have participated
in the case. There is nothing in the record to suggest that this is any­
thing other than an isolated occurrence. The underlying charge was
petty and groundless. The Commission's referee concluded that there
was no misconduct. All of the circumstances point to a letter of
dismissal and caution as the appropriate disposition pursuant to 22
NYCRR 7000.7(c), rather than public admonition.

Dated: November 28, 1983
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APPENDIX

Update to Volume One

Matter of Arthur W. Lonschein, 50 NY2d 569 (1980)
In Volume One, the Commission reported its determination that

Supreme Court/Justice Arthur W. Lonschein be censured. In Volume
Two, the Commission reported that its determination was modified by
the Court of Appeals to an admonition. It should be noted that the
Court of Appeals dismissed Charge I, which had been sustained by the
Commission. As to Charge II, the Court held that Justice Lonschein's
actions constituted misconduct. The Court rejected the determination
of censure and imposed a sanction of admonition.
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